Pathways of patients with chronic haematological malignancies: a report from the UK's populationbased HMRN

Eve Roman,^{1*,†} Debra Howell,^{1†} Alexandra Smith,¹ Simon Crouch,¹ Timothy Bagguley,¹ Daniel Painter,¹ Rebecca Sheridan,¹ Dorothy McCaughan,¹ John Blase,¹ William Curson,¹ Han-I Wang,¹ Andrea Manca,² Alastair Bennett,² Vijay S Gc,² Carol Miller,³ Karl Atkin,¹ Richard Thomson,⁴ Barbara Hanratty,⁴ Cathy Burton,⁵ John Ashcroft⁶ and Russell Patmore⁷

¹Department of Health Sciences, University of York, York, UK

²Centre for Health Economics, University of York, York, UK

³Patient co-investigator and lay representative

⁴Population Health Sciences Institute, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK

⁵Haematological Malignancy Diagnostic Service, St James's Hospital, Leeds, UK

⁶Department of Haematology, Mid Yorkshire Hospitals NHS Trust, Wakefield, UK

⁷Department of Haematology, Castle Hill Hospital, Cottingham, UK

*Corresponding author eve.roman@york.ac.uk

†Joint first authors

Published July 2024 DOI: 10.3310/TKNQ7004

Plain language summary

Pathways of patients with chronic haematological malignancies: a report from the UK's population-based HMRN

Programme Grants for Applied Research 2024; Vol. 12: No. 5 DOI: 10.3310/TKNQ7004

NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

Plain language summary

A round half of all blood cancers (leukaemias, lymphomas and myeloma) are chronic and incurable. Management often involves 'watch and wait', which begins with hospital-based monitoring and is followed by treatment if the cancer progresses. This typically leads to further observation and treatment in an ongoing process over time. Patients often experience anxiety and distress about not being treated at diagnosis and also because of uncertainty about 'if' and 'when' chemotherapy might be needed. Information is critical if patients are to (1) understand what may happen to them in the future and (2) be involved treatment decisions. However, evidence about the care pathways most patients follow is lacking. This programme was designed to fill this gap, tracking all patients with chronic blood cancers through their care pathways.

We collected information about diagnosis, treatment and outcome on approximately 8000 patients. These data were used to develop models that could be used to examine outcomes and costs. When compared with the general population, patients with blood cancer were confirmed to have more healthcare activity (e.g. hospital appointments and admissions). Computer programs were developed to electronically generate visual care-pathway 'maps' that revealed key similarities and differences between patient groups. Two questionnaires exploring quality of life and involvement in treatment decisions were developed and completed by 3153 patients in 14 hospitals. Thirty-five patients were interviewed about their preferences for information sharing and decision-making; needs were found to differ between patients and over time, and treatment recommendations from clinical staff were generally preferred. Emotional difficulties associated with uncertain trajectories were also clearly described.

Yielding new information about the pathways of patients with chronic haematological malignancies, findings from this programme can be built on to improve future care. Final information resources could not be developed or tested in practice due to COVID-19, which continues to impact how health care is delivered.

Programme Grants for Applied Research

ISSN 2050-4330 (Online)

A list of Journals Library editors can be found on the NIHR Journals Library website

Programme Grants for Applied Research (PGfAR) was launched in 2013 and is indexed by Europe PMC, NCBI Bookshelf, DOAJ, Ulrichsweb[™] (ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, USA) and Scopus[®] (Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands).

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

The full PGfAR archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/pgfar.

Criteria for inclusion in the Programme Grants for Applied Research journal

Manuscripts are published in *Programme Grants for Applied Research* (PGfAR) if (1) they have resulted from work for the PGfAR programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

Programme Grants for Applied Research programme

The Programme Grants for Applied Research (PGfAR) programme, part of the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR), was established in 2006 to fund collaborative, multidisciplinary programmes of applied research to solve health and social care challenges. Findings are expected to provide evidence that lead to clear and identifiable patient benefits, in the relatively near future.

PGfAR is researcher led and does not specify topics for research; however, the research must be in an area of priority or need for the NHS and the social care sector of the Department of Health and Social Care, with particular emphasis on health and social care areas that cause significant burden, where other research funders may not be focused, or where insufficient funding is available.

The programme is managed by the NIHR Central Commissioning Facility (CCF) with strategic input from the Programme Director. For more information about the PGfAR programme please visit the website: https://www.nihr.ac.uk/explore-nihr/funding-programmes/programme-grants-for-applied-research.htm

This article

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by PGfAR as award number RP-PG-0613-20002. The contractual start date was in December 2015. The draft manuscript began editorial review in May 2021 and was accepted for publication in August 2023. As the funder, the PGfAR programme agreed the research questions and study designs in advance with the investigators. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The PGFAR editors and production house have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' manuscript and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the draft document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this article.

This article presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, CCF, PGfAR or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the authors, those of the NHS, the PGfAR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care.

This article was published based on current knowledge at the time and date of publication. NIHR is committed to being inclusive and will continually monitor best practice and guidance in relation to terminology and language to ensure that we remain relevant to our stakeholders.

Copyright © 2024 Roman *et al.* This work was produced by Roman *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaptation in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.For attribution the title, original author(s), the publication source – NIHR Journals Library, and the DOI of the publication must be cited.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Newgen Digitalworks Pvt Ltd, Chennai, India (www.newgen.co).